# **Cabinet**

# Tuesday 15 January 2013

#### PRESENT:

Councillor Evans, in the Chair.
Councillor Peter Smith, Vice Chair.
Councillors Coker, Lowry, McDonald, Vincent and Williams.

Apology for absence: Councillor Penberthy.

Also in attendance: Tracey Lee (Chief Executive), Adam Broome (Director for Corporate Services), Carole Burgoyne (Director for People), Anthony Payne (Director for Place), Peter Aley (Head of Safer Communities), Paul Barnard (Assistant Director for Planning Services), Malcolm Coe (Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets), Kathryn Deeney (Green Infrastructure Team Leader), David Draffan (Assistant Director for Economic Development), Chris Grace (Head of Economy, Enterprise and Employment), Tim Howes (Assistant Director for Democracy and Governance), David List (Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Manager), Alistair MacPherson (Low Carbon City Team Leader), Pam Marsden (Assistant Director for Joint Commissioning and Adult Social Care), Julie McMillan (Service Manager), Bronwyn Prosser (Social Inclusion Manager), Jonathan Selman (Low Carbon Delivery Officer), David Taylor (Spatial Planning Coordinator), Tom White (Head of Network Management Unit) and Nicola Kirby (Senior Democratic Support Officer (Cabinet)).

The meeting started at 2.00 pm and finished at 4.07 pm.

Note: At a future meeting, the Cabinet will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may be subject to change. Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have been amended.

#### 116. ORDER OF BUSINESS

With the permission of the Chair, the order of business on the agenda was amended, as set out below in the minutes.

#### 117. **DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST**

There were no declarations of interest made by councillors in accordance with the code of conduct in relation to items under consideration at this meeting.

#### 118. MINUTES

Agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2012.

### 119. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

There were no questions from the public for this meeting.

#### **CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS**

#### 120. Windsor House Co-location with Health

The Director for Corporate Services submitted a written report on proposals for the colocation of the health Western Locality Client Commissioning Group at Windsor House to facilitate major changes for health and social care. Both organisations had agreed on –

- sharing an ICT system;
- utilisation of existing parking;
- Heads of Terms for the occupation of the building by health staff;
- the future of buildings I, 2 and 6B at Derriford Business Park from where health staff currently operated;
- the level of refurbishment as part of re-modelling;
- financial implications to both parties.

The report was required to be treated as an urgent key decision due to the need to conclude the purchase of buildings I and 2 prior to the transfer of all health assets into the NHS property services company and agreement had been given by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board.

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) presented the report and revised recommendations, as circulated. The Chair congratulated the capital and assets team on the achievement of this outcome.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

Agreed, subject to the approval of the recommendation to the City Council, –

- (1) works required to implement co-location at Windsor House with the Western Locality Client Commissioning Group at a net cost to the council of £0.369m;
- (2) the purchase of the leases of buildings I and 2 at Derriford Business Park at a cost of £0.900m.

# **120a** Windsor House Co-location with Health - Recommendation to the City Council

Further to minute 120 above, the City Council is Recommended to approve the additional capital resources required to implement co-location at Windsor House with the western locality Client Commissioning Group and amend the capital programme accordingly.

# 121. TAMAR BRIDGE AND TORPOINT FERRY JOINT COMMITTEE: REVENUE ESTIMATES AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2013/14 - 2016/17

The Director for Place submitted a written report on the business plan and the capital and revenue budgets for 2013/14 as recommended by the Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee (Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee minutes 24 and 25 refer).

The report indicated that the forecast capital and revenue budgets would require an increase in toll income of approximately 13 per cent from April 2014. This would ensure that risks were mitigated and that the cost of the operation did not fall upon the parent authorities' budgets. Additional work was on going to optimise options for the replacement of the bridge protective coating and a feasibility study would review the need to replace administration and control facilities on the Tamar Bridge site.

Councillor Coker (Joint Chair of the Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee and Cabinet Member for Transport) presented the report and indicated that the Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee had not yet agreed any toll increase. He added that the joint committee would continue to look at options and would present a recommendation on income to Cabinet in due course.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

Agreed the Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Business Plan 2013–2017.

# 121a Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee Revenue Estimates and Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2016/17 - Recommendation to the City Council

Further to minute 121 above, the City Council is Recommended to approve the revenue and capital budgets for 2013/14, as proposed by the Tamar Bridge and Torpoint Ferry Joint Committee.

# 122. NEW COMMUNITY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT TRUST

The Director for Place submitted a written report indicating the need to support job creation and employment, whilst building community capacity in the north of the city. The report sought Cabinet's approval to carry out a detailed feasibility study to assess how best to establish a new Community Economic Development Trust (CEDT) proposed for the north of the city.

The Chair introduced the report, in the absence of Councillor Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Cooperatives and Community Development) and the Assistant Director for Economic Development presented the proposals.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

# Agreed -

- (1) the allocation of £50,000 for completing appropriate studies into the potential market opportunities;
- (2) the approach described as the strategic projects option in section seven of the report for the development of a CEDT;
- (3) to hold 11 Plymouth City Council owned sites, identified in section three of the report, without consideration of disposal until such times as the potential uses as indicated have been ruled out through feasibility and business planning work. If the former youth centre, Taunton Avenue site is not progressed as a self-build scheme, as currently proposed, consideration will be given to its inclusion to support the CEDT:
- (4) to build on existing work with the community in the proposed area to develop capacity and ensure that the community is involved at the earliest stages of CEDT development. This may involve the evolution of new governance arrangements, to enable the CEDT to apply for external grant funding towards the cost of preparing the delivery plan.

# 123. PLAN FOR JOBS

The Director for Place submitted a written report on a proposed Plan for Jobs which contained 19 projects and aimed to create over 2,000 jobs (including 500 apprenticeships) over the next two years. The plan brought together actions and commitments designed to reinvigorate the local economy and stimulate private sector growth and job creation.

The report also gave further details of the purpose of the plan, the approach that had been taken, a summary of the plan's content and how it would be implemented and communicated.

Councillor Evans (Leader) introduced the report and thanked the economic development team for their considerable work on this plan.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

<u>Agreed</u> the overarching Plan for Jobs to guide investment with more detailed reports on implementation to be presented to Cabinet as the plan progresses.

# 124. ENERGY COOPERATIVES

The Director for Place submitted a written report to identify and agree the key principles for the creation of an Energy Cooperative in Plymouth. The report also sought approval to delegate authority in progressing delivery of the cooperative.

Councillor Vincent (Cabinet Member for Environment) presented the report.

Cabinet Members commented that with rising energy bills, these proposals would assist every citizen in Plymouth.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

### Agreed -

- (I) the principles for an Energy Cooperative to deliver a range of cost and carbon saving initiatives for local communities, focusing initially on collective energy purchasing/switching;
- (2) to delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Planning Services, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Cooperatives and Community Development and the Portfolio Holder for Environment, to agree the business model for the Energy Cooperative and progress the delivery, subject to budgetary provision being identified and necessary approvals.

#### 125. CORPORATE AND CITY CARBON REDUCTION

The Directors for Place and Corporate Services submitted a written report on a proposal to implement a council estate reduction target of 20 per cent by 2014/15 from 2009/10 levels as per the Corporate Asset Management Plan 2005 - 2015.

The report also sought approval of a programme of work to develop a low carbon theme to the Plymouth Plan, including a process of stakeholder engagement followed by a low carbon summit event in summer 2013.

Councillors Vincent (Cabinet Member for Environment) and Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) presented the report.

Councillor Peter Smith (Deputy Leader) reported that he was commencing discussions with the Trades' Unions with regard to actions which could be taken by staff to be more environmentally aware.

Councillor Coker (Cabinet Member for Transport) indicated that he had launched a consultation on cleaner vehicles to the end of March and indicated the action that he was taking to promote it.

With regard to progress by the government on the provision of electric charging points for vehicles, officers undertook to review the position and look at the possibility of including provision in the City Deal bid.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

# Agreed -

- (1) that the council's estate carbon reduction target of 20 per cent by 2014/15 from 2009/10 levels as per the Carbon Management Plan annexed to the Corporate Asset Management Plan 2005 2015, is confirmed;
- (2) the development of a low carbon theme to the Plymouth Plan, including the delivery of a low carbon summit event in summer 2013 which will help inform the content of the Plymouth Plan.

# 126. NEW MODELS OF GREENSPACE MANAGEMENT - AN INVESTIGATION INTO A COMMUNITY GREENSPACE TRUST

The Director for Place submitted a written report setting out a recommended process for investigating the cost, benefits, opportunities and risks of developing a Community Greenspace Trust. The investigation would test whether a Community Greenspace Trust could deliver a new model of management that 'places communities at the heart of decision making of an organisation dedicated to the management of high quality green spaces that deliver benefits for people, wildlife and businesses.'

The report also recommended a ten month investigation to assess all elements of developing a Community Greenspace Trust including potential governance arrangements and the responsibilities and accountabilities any new organisation must deliver. Fully evidenced recommendations would then be presented in a future report to Cabinet.

Councillor Vincent (Cabinet Member for Environment) presented the report.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

#### Agreed -

- (I) to instruct officers to investigate the potential of developing a Community Greenspace Trust;
- (2) the creation of a Community Greenspace Forum to support and inform the work to investigate a Community Greenspace Trust;
- (3) the inclusion of Central Park and Derriford Community Park as part of the investigation and any other strategic level green spaces if it is demonstrated that this would add value to the work.

# 127. IMPROVING QUALITY AND OUTCOMES, INCREASING CHOICE AND CONTROL - THE MODERNISATION OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE SERVICE PROVISION

The Director for People submitted a written report updating Members and seeking agreement to the continued direction of travel in relation to the council's ambitious plans for modernising the Adult Social Care Service.

In particular it proposed five key strategic projects that would deliver "improved quality and outcomes and increased choice and control" –

- improving the community meals service through a trading model;
- improving the social care reablement service;
- improving the quality in dementia care;
- delivering a new model for short break provision;
- improving the choice and control in day opportunities.

Councillor McDonald (Cabinet Member for Public Health and Adult Social Care) presented the report and referred to the trade union protest before the meeting, in relation to these proposals. She also thanked staff for their work.

In response to questions, Cabinet Members were advised that safeguarding was essential and that the monitoring of contracts would be key to ensure high standards of service. The Assistant Director for Joint Commissioning and Adult Social Care indicated that robust contract monitoring was already in place for existing contracts.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

In order to improve quality and outcomes and increase choice and control, the five key programmes of work that will fundamentally transform the way the council deliver services are supported and the following recommendations are <u>agreed</u> -

Strategic Project	Recommendation	Timeline
I. Improving community meals service through a trading model	Transfer provision of the existing community meals service to the education catering service and consult with staff about this.	January – April 2013
2. Improving the social care reablement service	Re-tender all existing domiciliary care services in the independent sector totalling £13m per annum to include the in-house reablement service	February - August 2013
	Begin consultation with staff about the transfer of this service to the independent sector.	January/February 2013

Once the results of the consultations in relation to programmes 3, 4 and 5 are known, a further report will be submitted to Cabinet for a decision:			
3. Improving quality in dementia care	Consult with residents of Lakeside Residential Care Home and their families (using advocacy services where appropriate) and dedicated social work professionals about plans to improve residential provision in the City for service users with dementia and the future use of Lakeside Residential Care. Their views will be taken into account regarding any decisions concerning the de-commissioning of Lakeside Residential Care Home and the re-provision of alternative services	January – March 2013	
	Begin consultation with staff about the use of Lakeside Residential Care Home	January – March 2013	
4. A new model for short break provision	Consult with people who use Colwill Lodge, their carers, families, staff and stakeholders to explore alternative provider models of service delivery such as mutuals, cooperatives and social enterprises, with the intention to continue to provide as a minimum the same level of facilities and services from the same premises.	Autumn 2013	
5. Increasing choice and control in day opportunities	Consult with people who use Plymouth City Council managed day service their families and carers (using advocacy services where appropriate) and dedicated social work professionals about the future of day opportunities in the City and the use of inhouse building based provision. Their views will be taken into account regarding any decisions concerning reducing the number of building based centres managed by the City Council.	February – April 2013	
	Begin consultation with staff about the proposals for day opportunities.	February – April 2013	

(During consideration of this item, the meeting was adjourned for a fire alarm).

#### 128. SOCIAL FUND REPLACEMENT

The Director for People submitted a written report on a proposal for the introduction of a local Emergency and Welfare Fund to replace the national Social Fund (which supported people in extreme financial difficulty via grants and loans) in April 2013. The council was expected to run this scheme with a 28 per cent cut (£345,272) in the front line delivery budget imposed by the government.

A localised welfare assistance scheme would be designed and developed to replace the current community care grants' and crisis loans' schemes administered by the Department for Work and Pensions.

Following consultation on eight key principles, market testing and consideration by a Customer and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel task and finish group, a service model had been developed on how the scheme would operate and address some key delivery and implementation issues arising from the principles including budget management, limiting awards, eligibility criteria, procurement of goods and services, administration arrangements, whether to have a loans or grants system and an appeals process.

The Chair, in the absence of Councillor Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Cooperatives and Community Development), introduced the report and the Head of Safer Communities presented the proposals.

In response to questions, Cabinet Members were informed that information had not been forthcoming from the Department for Work and Pensions on the details of grants and loans previously allocated and were assured that the new team administering the scheme would be properly trained. Officers undertook to monitor the position and report to Cabinet Members periodically.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

# The City Council is Recommended to -

- (I) establish a replacement for the Social Fund called the "Emergency and Welfare Fund" (EWF) to support people in extreme financial difficulty;
- (2) agree that the EWF is based on the following principles. It will -
  - be limited to Plymouth residents only;
  - deliver goods and services from wherever is most appropriate;
  - spend the same amount of funding that the council are handed from government;
  - broadly mirror the current Social Fund eligibility criteria (e.g. those on low income and without access to other forms of income);
  - provide crisis and welfare responses;
  - minimise the spend on administration of the scheme so the council gets as much of the government funding as possible to people in need;
  - provide goods, services and cash;
  - apply limits to the number of awards an individual can access;

- (3) ask the Customer and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel to review delivery of the EWF after six months of implementation and make any relevant recommendations. A further review to be undertaken at the end of the first year of implementation with recommendations made to Cabinet for any improvements in year two;
- (4) delegate authority to the Director for People, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Cooperatives and Community Development and Director for Corporate Services, to make any changes to the EWF within the first year, which are consistent with the principles agreed, and necessary to ensure effective budget management and / or response to customers' needs;
- (5) adopt the service model (referred to in Appendix I to the report) for delivery of the EWF:
- (6) review, on an on-going basis, the potential for delivering some elements of the EWF via key partners (eg credit unions).

# 129. THE PUBLIC SERVICES (SOCIAL VALUE) ACT 2012

The Director for Corporate Services submitted a written report on the implications of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) presented the report and directors undertook to ensure that management teams were briefed on the provisions of the act.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

Agreed the proposed actions to implement the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

### 130. ADOPTION OF NORTH PROSPECT AREA PLANNING STATEMENT

The Director for Place submitted a written report seeking formal adoption of the North Prospect Area Planning Statement (APS), to ensure that there was an up to date planning framework in place to manage the process of change in the area.

The Area Planning Statement was also submitted incorporating the findings of the previous studies, along with additional information, comments and advice from stakeholders and the public, arising from a six week public consultation exercise that ended on 10 October 2012. These were combined to create a strategy to guide the regeneration over the life of the project.

Councillor Vincent (Cabinet Member for Environment) presented the report.

In response to questions, Cabinet Members were advised that -

- officers would meet with ward representatives on some of the assumptions in the planning statement;
- a design code had been produced with Plymouth Community Homes;

• the phases of development would be different in design terms.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

Subject to the adoption of the planning statement, <u>agreed</u> to incorporate the principles of the Area Planning Statement into the Plymouth Plan which will be the subject of public consultation in 2013.

# 130a Adoption of North Prospect Area Planning Statement - Recommendation to the City Council

Further to minute 130 above, the City Council is Recommended to adopt the North Prospect Area Planning Statement as interim planning guidance to be used in consideration of future development proposals in North Prospect.

### 131. REVENUES AND BENEFITS PERFORMANCE UPDATE

The Director for Corporate Services submitted a written report updating Cabinet Members on the performance of the Revenues and Benefits Service.

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) presented the update and indicated that the website had now been launched for self service in relation to housing benefit, council tax and housing benefits. He also stressed that Cabinet Members continued to have concerns on the implementation of systems prior to the changes arising from welfare reform.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision –

As set out in the report.

The progress made by the service since the implementation of a new structure, was noted.

### 132. COUNCIL TAX BASE SETTING

The Director for Corporate Services submitted a written report on a council tax-base for tax setting purposes in accordance with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 1992, as amended by SI 2003/3181.

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) presented the report.

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision -

As set out in the report.

<u>The City Council is Recommended</u> to approve the council tax base for 2013/14 tax setting as 66,958 Band D equivalents, which is the tax base after allowing for an estimated collection rate of 97.5 per cent.

